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Although it is long overdue,
this book is dedicated to the memory of Pierce R. Brooks,
a cops’ cop, a superior detective, an innovator,
and a wonderfully kind man.
Pierce saved more lives in his long career
than any law enforcement officer I ever met.
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Introduction


While it is true that serial murder cases often tend to draw the biggest headlines—perhaps because that phenomenon was recognized and acknowledged only two decades ago—homicides resulting from interpersonal relationships can be more dramatic and mesmerizing. In this volume of my true crime files series, I have chosen cases from both categories. They all evolved from what began initially out of attraction, but some murders came about through undiluted lust on the part of the killers. Others started with love—or what passed for love.


If I had to sum up the cases I have selected for this book, I would say that the tragic women victims all hoped for something positive from the men they encountered: a conversation with someone who seemed trustworthy, friendship, companionship, a kiss, or a hug—and in many cases, a kiss, romance, and perhaps even a lifetime commitment. Some of the lost women soon had reason to be uncomfortable—even frightened—while others faced death suddenly and with no warning at all. If there are lessons here, I hope that my readers will learn to react to even the first small niggling of doubt and protect themselves from danger before it is too late.


“Kiss Me, Kill Me,” the title case in this book, began and ended with pure lust, although there was a strange interlude where a killer and the woman he abducted actually seemed to care for each other. This long section also explores the encouraging phenomenon of “Cold Case Squads,” now mobilizing in police departments around the United States, with clever detectives who use the latest technology in forensic science to track down murder suspects who believed they were home free decades ago.


“The Postman Only Killed Once” isn’t about “going postal” as it’s come to be known after workers for the U.S. Postal Service have faced mass murderers among their fellow employees. This sex-mad killer was ultimately selfish, a glutton who wanted any number of women in his life, and a man who fantasized a crazy plot to free himself of the bonds of marriage while blaming murder on a phantom serial killer. He just happened to be a mailman.


Neither kisses nor passion last forever; ordinary life settles in and truly good marriages and relationships are based on shared interests, common experiences, trust, and mutual support through both the good and bad times. Of course there will be high points over the years, but no one can live full-time on roller coasters or a diet of ice cream sundaes. And they can’t devote every waking thought to someone else’s needs and desires.


“What’s Love Got to Do with It?” began with an attractive couple who wanted to live a life filled with pleasure, without having to work to pay for it. It would have worked in a movie. It was hard to tell which of them was more attractive, but I suspect she was the one who loved the most. The question remains, “Did she love the wrong man too much and pay far too heavy a price for believing in him?” Or was she just as guilty as he was in their plans to have a wonderful life?


That life was Las Vegas, convertibles, drinking and drugging, and cocktail lounges, as empty of substance as a mall theater after the last show. And they were, of course, doomed to fail. Sadly, they took another life in a stupid attempt to fulfill their impossible dreams.


Some of the cruelest murders have been perpetrated by those who promised undying love when what they really meant was that the love object now belonged to them. Ownership of another human being is not love.


Jealousy is not love, either. When men or women fail to trust their partner and allow them to live freely, real love cannot exist. It is inevitable that the object of jealousy will try to break free at some point. Some partners let that happen, and some destroy those they have sworn they will cherish forever. I get letters and emails every day from both men and women who live in fear because an estranged spouse or lover is stalking them and threatening to kill them.


It is important that they realize this is not their doing. Those who have not been there can’t understand why trapped victims of misplaced “love” couldn’t detect the danger behind protestations of affection and caring before they exchanged vows or promises with the person they have come to fear so much. And yet it is rarely the fault of the one who is being stalked. Sometimes, yes, there were signs that their lovers were too possessive. More often, the warning signs came when it was too late to run away.


“The Captive Bride” is about the fear that many women—and some men—live with day by day. I wish that I did have the answers for them, but I don’t. The best I can do is urge them to go online and enter “Domestic Violence” in the slot in search engines.


“Bad Blind Date” is exactly what the title suggests, but, tragically, it takes the concept far beyond an uncomfortable evening with someone who turned out to be a major disappointment. We have all accepted dates with someone we didn’t really know. This case illustrates graphically the worst possible result if we allow ourselves to be pushed into spending time alone with a complete stranger.


“The Lonely Hearts Killer” who found his victims in the Personal and “Model Wanted” ads of Los Angeles newspapers was, arguably, the first serial killer ever identified by that phrase. His horrifying crimes fit within the parameters of the description of the definition, as chilling today as it was when it happened. His victims were ultimately vulnerable, women seeking love or a way to make a living in Hollywood.


Some of the cases I picked with some hesitation—because they deal with sexual aberration that few of us, thankfully, ever encounter or even read about. “Old Flames Can Burn” and “You Kill Me—Or I’ll Kill You” fall within that category. The men who were convicted in these crimes were handsome, much more than presentable socially, and ultimately frightening.


“The Highway Accident” is a case that some of you may have read before. Still, after reading the massive media coverage of both the Lori and Mark Hacking case in Utah and the Laci and Scott Peterson case in California, I felt I had to include it. This case is almost a blueprint for the current cases—particularly the Hacking tragedy—although it goes several steps beyond. It does seem impossible for a wife to be so trusting of her husband, only to find out that she has lived in a lie. But it happens. It happened in “The Highway Accident” in Oregon, and I think you will be as startled as I was to see the similarities with the cases in today’s headlines.


“Where Is Julie?” is one of the thousand or more mysteries I have chronicled in the past three decades, and one of perhaps a dozen that I cannot get out of my mind. In this last story, we come back to the sadness of the loss of “Kiss Me, Kill Me,” ’s Sandy Bowman—the perfect marriage that ended because someone outside the couple fixated on the lovely wife. As long as I live, I will never forget Julie Weflen or give up hope that the answer to her disappearance will be disclosed. Someone fixated on Julie, and it was probably the death of her. Instant attraction is more likely to be sexual than an arrow in the heart from Cupid. I think the most frightening stories I ever have to tell are cases where someone waits and watches in the shadows because he has become obsessed with a complete stranger. This kind of killer isn’t looking for romance or happy ever after; he wants instant sexual gratification or the thrill of capturing someone he finds attractive but unattainable without the use of force. I sincerely hope that some reader may hold the clue that will let those who still love her know what happened to Julie.


All of the cases in this book retrace the cataclysmic events that began with a kiss, a hug, or some other manifestation of affection or physical longing. Tragically, the time between kissing and killing wasn’t very long in many of these true stories. Some of the killers were maddened by love, some by lust, and some appear to have been just plain crazy.


I must admit that when I finished Kiss Me, Kill Me, I was feeling sad. And then I thought, Why not? Who wouldn’t feel this way after thinking about all of these tragedies?


These cases are interesting, yes, but they are also cautionary tales that every reader should take to heart, and use to arm herself against danger. Often, readers jokingly ask me to sign a book: “I hope I never have to write about you!” And I always refuse because it seems unlucky to say that. So please pay heed.





Kiss Me, Kill Me


Author’s Note


Never is there greater need for rapid results than in a homicide investigation. If a murder is not solved within the first forty-eight hours, the chance that it will ever be solved diminishes in direct proportion to the time that passes. That is why detectives often work around the clock when they are called to a murder scene. It doesn’t matter to them if it is day or night; they don’t leave that scene unguarded for any reason until it has been thoroughly processed, right down to the most minuscule fleck of blood or hair that seems out of place. Although they might have to wait until sunrise to detect everything that might be there, they know they are working against an invisible stopwatch, mocking them as it tick-ticks the time away while the killer gains an advantage.


As unimaginable as it might sound, the true solution of the case that follows took almost thirty-six years! As I recall, it was the third case I wrote, far back in the beginning of my career as a true-crime writer. This was the tragedy that made me question whether my conscience would allow me to keep writing in the reality crime genre, and I almost quit right then. As I read the files on the death of a teenage bride, a girl who was totally happy with her new husband and looking forward to the baby they expected, I was saddened and heartsick.


I actually scheduled an appointment with a psychiatrist and told him of my doubts, explaining that I was alone with four children to raise and that having a steady assignment as the Northwest correspondent for True Detective magazine meant a lot to us financially. I only made two hundred dollars for an article, but in the late sixties that was enough for us to get by. At the same time, I wasn’t comfortable with the thought that I was making a living from someone else’s misfortunes.


The therapist smiled slightly at my question. He explained that half the population of the United States probably depended at least partially on the mishaps of others for their livelihood.


“I do,” he said, “and so do insurance salesmen, doctors, police officers, firefighters, hospital workers, funeral directors, journalists, ministers, social workers. Well, you get the point. The list goes on and on. What really matters is how you feel about the people you write about.”


“Then I think I can deal with that,” I said. “I have no question about how I feel. I care a great deal for them. It’s never going to be just a story for me. The victims are very real to me, and I want to do the best job I can to tell about their lives.”


“Then you have your answer,” he said. “You have no reason to feel guilty. If you ever stop caring about the victims, then you should write about something else.”


I cared about Sandra Bowman then, and I still do now. If she were alive today, she would be fifty-two, probably a grandmother.


But she never got that chance.


The world went on for these thirty-six years without Sandra, and no one ever knew who had killed her. It was really a double murder because her unborn child died with her.


Ann Rule


August 2004
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One of the reasons Sandy’s—as she was called—murder disturbed me so much was because I knew her uncle. Her mother’s brother, Jerry Yates, was a detective sergeant in the Crimes Against Persons Unit of the Seattle Police Department. His unit investigated homicides, robberies, sex crimes, and missing persons. Yates was in charge of the Missing Persons Division. He was an extremely kind man who worked hard to find loved ones other people had lost, and everyone who knew Yates was saddened that he would lose his own niece to an unknown killer. Although homicide investigators do their best to solve every case assigned to them, the men who had worked beside Jerry Yates for years vowed they wouldn’t stop until they saw his niece’s killer brought to justice.


But it would prove to be a baffling case marked by bizarre circumstances. In the beginning, the vicious senseless murder of a 16-year-old girl seemed to be only a slight challenge to experienced detectives. But so many suspects who might have killed Sandy Bowman emerged, clouding the probe with false leads that led only to frustrating dead ends.


Sandy Bowman was her maternal grandfather’s favorite of all the offspring. Benjamin Yates was a hardworking Kansas native born around the turn of the century, and he had suffered many tragic losses in his life. His first wife, Ida Murphy Yates, died eight years after their marriage, leaving him with three children to raise. He was remarried to Neva Taylor Yates and they had eight more children. Sadly, their two baby sons, Earl and Donald, both died when they were only a year old, and another son, Ray, succumbed to leukemia at the age of 13. James, Jerry, Shirley, Dorothy, and Beverly grew to adulthood.


Every family deals with grief in its own fashion, and perhaps because Benjamin and Neva had to bury three of their children, they covered up their pain, kept their sorrow to themselves, and seldom discussed their losses.


Dorothy Yates married Roy Maki in 1947 three months before her sixteenth birthday. Dorothy, was a native of Kansas who married a young Washington State man. Beverly Yates was 16 when she married Hector Gillis Jr.


Dorothy Maki was only 17 when her first son, William, was born, followed by Robert in just eleven months. Two baby boys in one calendar year meant that Dorothy had her hands full. Sandy came along four years later, and she was a sweet-faced baby girl with dark hair and huge eyes, someone her mother could dress up in frilly clothes.


Sandra Darlene “Sandy” Maki was born on December 3, 1952, the adored baby sister of her brothers William and Robert Maki.


The Yateses were a close family, and Dorothy’s sisters, Beverly and Shirley, had children—who, along with Jerry’s, played with their cousins often. When the children were young, they lived near each other in the Ballard section of Seattle, the neighborhood populated mostly by Scandinavians—Swedes, Danes, Norwegians, and Finns. Fishing ships docked in Ballard in between trips to Alaska and the Pacific Ocean, and both commercial and private boats had to move through the Ballard Locks to reach the open sea.


Ballard was a low-crime area and so was most of the near north end of Seattle in the fifties and sixties. Ballard was on the western end of 45th Street, and the University of Washington was on the eastern. In between were the family neighborhoods with Craftsman-style houses and local shops: Wallingford, Fremont, Green Lake. Decades later, they would be hip, then funky, and finally very expensive.


The elder Yateses, Benjamin and Neva, lived over in Port Orchard on Washington’s Olympic Peninsula. Their grandchildren visited and Benjamin doted on freckle-faced Sandy. She was always laughing and she loved dogs.


Sandy’s parents divorced in 1964 when she was 12 and her mother remarried later in the year. Surrounded by her large extended family, she seemed to handle the divorce well.


Sandy was always popular and dated often in junior high and high school. She was petite and wore her thick brown hair in a short bouffant cut with a fringe of bangs over her high forehead. Like most young women who followed the fashion of the day, she lined her blue eyes with a dark kohl pencil and applied several coats of mascara. Teenagers tried to emulate the English star Twiggy, and even though few of them were as sliver thin as she was, they all wore short dresses and go-go boots in 1968 and listened to recordings by the Doors and the Beatles.


Sandy had gone steady with a boy named Lee Wilkins* for a while, but it was Tom Bowman who won her heart. She had never planned on going to college; so far all the women in her family dropped out of school to marry young, and she had looked forward to being married and having her own home.


She and Tom were very young. Sandy was only 15 when they were married on July 27, 1968, but her family saw that she had a lovely wedding. She was happy when her stepsister, Jo Anne Weeks, caught her wedding bouquet. The two young women got along very well.


Sandy and her new husband rented a small apartment, but something frightened her there and they quickly found another where she would feel safer. They were able to rent a second-floor apartment in the Kon-Tiki complex at 6201 14th Street N.W. for a reasonable price. They didn’t have much furniture, but what they chose was Danish Modern.


She wasn’t pregnant when she got married, but Sandy conceived two months later and both she and Tom were eagerly looking forward to the birth of their baby in June 1969.


Tom worked the three to eleven P.M. shift at the American Can Company, so Sandy was alone most evenings, but she had so many friends she didn’t feel lonesome.


On December 3, Sandy celebrated her sixteenth birthday. She was excited about her first Christmas as a married woman.


Washington State had an extremely cold winter that year and Seattle’s city streets were clogged with snow before Christmas, when usually it was only the mountain passes where snow was to be expected. In the Cascades, drifts towered over vehicles and the summits were often closed to traffic—and skiers—until the roads were cleared and avalanche danger was past.


Temperatures had dropped on Tuesday, December 17, and Ballard’s streets were soon covered with snow.


That day, just a week before Christmas Eve, began happily when Sandy checked her mailbox and found a letter from a relative in New York with a twenty-dollar check tucked inside as a Christmas gift. Today, it doesn’t sound like a lot of money, but it went much further in 1968. The average yearly income was about $6,400 a year, and gasoline cost only thirty-four cents a gallon. Tom was making a good living at the can factory, but the check was a wonderful surprise for Sandy. She smiled as she waved the check in front of her husband and told him she was going to buy more presents with it.


Snow fluttered past their windows as they shared a leisurely breakfast. It was the one meal of the day they could enjoy together without rushing. Then they listened to records on their stereo set—Hey Jude and Green Tambourine.


Two of Sandy’s girlfriends who had attended Ballard High School with her dropped by to visit with them. The snow kept falling, making the apartment seem very cozy.


Early in the afternoon, Tom changed into his work clothes and Sandy asked if she could ride along with him as far as the bank. She wanted to cash the gift check, and then she planned to shop and visit some of her relatives who lived in Ballard. She promised him she would be home early; it would be dark well before five. The shortest day of the year was only four days away, and Seattle’s winter days were almost as dark as those in Alaska. Tom didn’t want her out after dark or walking alone on slippery streets when she was pregnant, even though she was six months from having their baby.


He grinned as he watched her walk away from his car toward the bank, enjoying the enthusiasm Sandy showed over even a simple shopping trip. Their marriage was still at the “playing house” stage and the newlyweds considered themselves very lucky.
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It was 11:30 that night when Tom got home from work. Ordinarily, he would have finished his shift at 9:30 but he had a chance to work two hours overtime, and he took it. Without checking to see if the apartment’s front door was locked, he automatically slipped his key into the lock. The door swung open. Later, he couldn’t remember if the door had been locked or even if it had been ajar.


As he stepped into the living room an extra-long cigarette fell from the doorjamb above his head and dropped on the floor in front of him. It was a Pall Mall that had never been lit. That puzzled him slightly because Sandy smoked only occasionally, and then she chose Winstons. He didn’t smoke at all.


The living room was a little messy, but Sandy wasn’t a meticulous housekeeper so he didn’t think much of it—until he noticed that her purse lay in the middle of the floor with its contents scattered as if someone had deliberately dumped it out and hadn’t bothered to put the scattered items back in. One of Sandy’s black pumps lay next to it. The coffee table was stacked with Christmas presents, along with some holiday wrapping paper and the daily paper. It had been read, its sections haphazardly stacked.


The lights in the apartment and the television set were still on. That was odd. Sandy usually turned off the lights when she left a room to save on their electric bill.


Tom saw that she had left a note propped up on the coffee table. Walking quietly so he wouldn’t wake her up, he read it. “Tom,” she had written, “I went to bed early because I didn’t feel so good. The baby started moving tonight, it’s not kicking yet, it squirms and moves. It moved up on my ribs. AND IT HURT. It must be a boy because it’s strong. I got $23.00 left. I love you very much.


“Love, Sandy”


He doubted that she could actually feel their baby when she was only three months pregnant, but she was so thrilled about being a mother she probably had imagined she felt it inside her.


Tom walked toward their bedroom and saw that was the only room in the apartment where the light was switched off. He could make out Sandy where she lay across the end of the bed. His first thought was that she must have been so exhausted that she’d fallen asleep without even bothering to get under the covers.


And then he snapped on the light switch next to the door. He saw a silent tableau that he would never be able to forget. It was the most horrendous sight he would ever see.


Sandy lay in a crimson welter of her own blood, making him think at first that she had suffered a miscarriage and passed out from hemorrhaging. But as he dropped to his knees beside the bed, Tom saw that her hands were bound together with some sort of rope or cord. She wore the green dress she’d had on earlier, but now it looked as though it had been ripped almost completely off her body. The flowered sheets on their bed were soaked with blood, and the wall was spattered with scarlet droplets.


Someone had done this to Sandy. Tom looked at her closely, hoping to see that she was breathing and her heart was beating. But he knew. Even as he ran from their apartment, Tom Bowman knew it was too late to save Sandy. There was no dial tone on their own phone. Tom pounded first on the closest apartment, but no one answered. Then he ran to the apartment in the other direction. Mr. and Mrs. Wayne Brosnick* lived there.


Wayne Brosnick opened the door immediately, and saw an almost hysterical man with tears in his eyes. He blurted, “My wife’s been raped and killed!”


The Brosnicks led Tom to their phone and helped him place a call to police. Then he muttered that he had to get back to his wife. Seattle Police patrolmen B. Mayhle and I. Citron, who were working out of the nearby Wallingford Precinct, responded to the call for help. As they ran up the steps to #203 of the Kon-Tiki, they found Tom Bowman sitting outside his apartment with his head in his hands. He pointed into the apartment as he sobbed, “My wife—”


It took the patrol officers only seconds to determine that homicide detectives were needed, and they hurried back to their squad car to notify the radio room. The Homicide Unit was on the fifth floor of the Public Safety Building in downtown Seattle. From midnight until seven A.M., it was usually empty and investigators were called at home when they were needed, but Sergeants Elmer Wittman and Cary Parkes, and Detective William MacPherson, who were just about to go off duty, were still there. They grabbed their homicide kits and ran instead to the police garage and leapt into an unmarked car. They asked radio to alert their command officers who were off duty. Lieutenant Dick Schoener and Captain Wayne Simpson said they would respond to the Bowmans’ Ballard apartment.


While Tom Bowman sat in shock on the living room couch, the detectives entered the bedroom. They were all experienced officers, but the insane violence before them was almost unbelievable. If anything could make it worse, it was the sight of more Christmas presents that Sandy Bowman had stacked beside the bed.


The dead girl had obviously been stabbed, but it would be impossible to count the number of thrusts. It would take the medical examiner to determine the exact number if even he could do that. This was clearly a case of “overkill,” usually the sign that the killer had known the victim and had some grievance to settle, some terrible rage to get out.


Sandy’s panties, pantyhose, and bra had been ripped from her body and flung carelessly on the floor. The entire bed was stained with blood, but there were two distinct pools that appeared to have soaked through the bedding and into the mattress. It looked as if she had been stabbed and then rolled or moved to another part of the bed.


Her wrists were bound with cord, now tied loosely, although there were deep grooves there that indicated they had once been tightened cruelly. For some inexplicable reason, her slayer had loosened them before leaving the apartment.


A pair of black-handled household scissors and a butcher knife lay on the bedroom floor. At this point, it was impossible to tell if either—or both—had been used in the attack.


In the bathroom, the detectives checked the sink for signs that the killer had washed his hands. They would remove the P-trap later to see if anything of evidentiary value had been caught there. Glancing toward the toilet, they saw a gruesome mask fashioned from adhesive tape, a mask the size of a face. They didn’t know yet whether the murderer had used it as a disguise or if he had put it on Sandy Bowman’s face as some kind of blindfold or gag. Someone had tried to flush it down the toilet but it had been caught, too large to go down.


While Cary Parkes photographed Sandy’s body, the obvious evidence, and then every room in the apartment, Dick Schoener called the “next-up” detectives—Wayne Dorman and Don Strunk—at home. They would gather any more possible or trace evidence, bag it and tag it, and take measurements of the rooms.


Schoener studied the cords binding Sandy Bowman’s wrists and determined that they had been cut from the draperies in the living room. By measuring the cords on the opposite side of the windows, he was able to determine that all the cord cut was still in the apartment.


A search of garbage cans behind the apartment produced one knife. Upon autopsy, Dr. Gale Wilson would be able to tell if it matched any of Sandy’s fatal wounds.


Detectives questioned the Brosnicks, whose apartment shared a common wall with the Bowmans: “Did you hear or see anything this evening which might have been unusual—anything at all?”


The couple looked at each other. Then Wayne Brosnick answered slowly, “Yes. We did. Now we realize what was happening, but at the time, I’m afraid we thought everything was all right. We heard a scream at about 7:30. I’m sure of the time because we were watching The Jerry Lewis Show, and it had just come on. We heard a male voice, too, but we couldn’t understand what he was saying.


“Then we heard a woman’s voice crying ‘Oh, no. No. No!’ I went to the bathroom and put my ear to the wall. But then I heard water running and we figured it was just a little family fight and that everything was all right. Sometime later—I can’t say for sure how long—we heard their front door being slammed.”


“Did you look out?”


“No, we had no reason to,” Brosnick said. “We really believed everything was okay with them. If only we had—”


Clearly, the neighbors felt terrible that they hadn’t run next door, but it was too late now.


•  •  •

Detective MacPherson approached the bereaved husband, who was calm but pale, and asked him gently if he could give a statement. Tom Bowman said he would cooperate any way he could. He explained that he had gone to work at two P.M., and taken a break at four for fifteen minutes. During that time, he was inside the plant, talking to the inspector in his section. His lunch break had been from 7:30 to 8:00 and he had watched fellow workers play cards. He had punched out at 11:12 P.M.


“If only I hadn’t worked overtime,” the anguished man murmured. “I should have been home with Sandy.”


“From what we’ve learned so far, I don’t think it would have made any difference,” MacPherson reassured him. “Is there anyone you know who might be capable of this? Anyone have a grudge against you?”


Bowman considered that. “The only one I can think of is a guy named ‘Nino.*’ That’s not his real name—just a nickname. But about five months ago, when we were just married, we lived in another apartment for a short time. Well, he dropped in on us one night unexpectedly. Just a few days after that, somebody broke into our apartment and burglarized the place. We always thought it was Nino, but we couldn’t prove it.


“Sandy was frightened to stay there after that. That’s why we moved here—so she’d be safe.”


Tom dropped his head into his hands. Then he took a deep breath to steady his emotions. “I don’t have any idea where to find Nino,” he said.


“You told your neighbors that your wife was raped,” MacPherson said slowly. “But you say you ran for help as soon as you found her. What made you conclude that so quickly?”


Bowman said the fact that Sandy’s panties and pantyhose were tossed on the floor had just led him to assume that.


MacPherson made a note of it. It was probably nothing, but he would ask the pathologist who did the autopsy to validate if Sandy had, indeed, been sexually assaulted.
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Working in the chilly wee hours of a December morning, MacPherson and Parkes contacted Sandy’s aunt, whom she had planned to visit earlier in the day. They learned that she had gone shopping as she planned and then dropped in at her aunt’s house. “But she didn’t stay long,” the shocked woman said. “She wanted to be home early so that she would be there when Tom got off work.”


As the investigators continued to question Tom Bowman, they learned of another family with whom Sandy had close ties. Sandy had gone steady with a Ballard boy named Lee Wilkins for over a year before she broke off with him and became engaged to Tom. But she had remained on good terms with Lee Wilkins and his family. In fact, Mrs. Wilkins had been a kind of substitute mother figure for Sandy after her own mother moved to California.


It was 4:30 A.M. when detectives knocked on the door of the Wilkins home. Once again, they had to tell people who loved Sandy that she had been murdered.


Fighting to keep his composure, Lee Wilkins protested that that couldn’t be true. “But I saw her at 6:30 tonight,” he said. “She was fine. She wanted to go grocery shopping and the bags were heavy for her, so she asked me to go along and carry them and take them upstairs for her.”


“And you did?”


“Sure, I carried them upstairs, put them down in the kitchen, and then left right away.”


“Then where did you go?”


“I went over to a friend’s house. There were several of us there. They can tell you I was with them.”


Lee’s mother, who was crying, too, spoke up, “There’s a young married man living down the street. I don’t quite know how to say this, but he’s just funny, strange and kind of unstable. I think he knew Sandy before she was married. I know she’s mentioned that he’s been in their apartment.”


“Do you know his name?”


“It’s Rob Kinslow.*”


•  •  •

Back at the Bowman’s apartment, deputy medical examiners wheeled a gurney with a body bag containing Sandy Bowman’s corpse from her bedroom. Tom Bowman averted his eyes. He was still trying to cooperate with detectives, although he didn’t know that homicide investigators almost always look first at the spouse or the lover of a victim as a possible suspect. They studied him carefully, trying to evaluate his emotional response. He appeared to be in shock and sincere in his grief.


Tom identified the purse in the living room as his wife’s but he looked at the contents and said that Sandy’s wallet and any money that might have been in it were missing.


Wayne Dorman and Don Strunk bagged a lot of evidence from the apartment: the black leather purse, a woman’s shoe with a broken buckle, a writing tablet, a white flowered bra, a torn towel, panties and dark pantyhose, two short pieces of drapery cord, the wooden-handled butcher knife, the pair of black-handled scissors, the Pall Mall cigarette, the adhesive mask, dark red scrapings (of blood that had dropped from at least three feet above the bedroom rug), two small seeds—possibly marijuana—from the bathroom floor, one latent print from the medicine cabinet, two latent prints from doorknobs, scrapings from beneath Sandy Bowman’s nails, and the bloodstained bedclothes.


All of this was placed at once in the Evidence Room of the Seattle Police Department.


At 6:00 A.M., the Bowman apartment was locked with police locks and secured against entry.


•  •  •

One hour later, King County Medical Examiner Dr. Gale Wilson performed a postmortem examination on Sandy Bowman. (Wilson had been a mainstay as a King County coroner and then as medical examiner for decades. When he testified in murder cases, he invariably took a small black book from his vest pocket and read the latest information on the number of autopsies he had performed. In 1968, he had more than 35,000!)


As Wilson studied the 16-year-old girl on his examining table, he saw that someone or some thing had spurred her killer into insane frenzy. There were close to sixty puncture wounds in her body, forty-five in front and twelve that had pierced her back.


Out of these five dozen wounds, Wilson estimated that thirty-seven to thirty-nine would have been rapidly fatal. There was no sign of strangulation in the strap muscles of Sandy’s neck, the delicate hyoid bone at the back of her tongue, wasn’t fractured, and her eyes, where blood vessels invariably burst when a person is suffocated or strangled, were clear.


Sandy’s left lower jaw bore a deep bruise three by five centimeters in size, probably caused by a powerful human fist and sufficient, Dr. Wilson stated, to knock her unconscious. Some of the fifty-seven knife wounds had been made before death, but most of them had occurred after. It was quite possible that she had been unconscious from the blunt force to her head when the stabbing began.


One would hope so.


Surprisingly, none of the penetration wounds had been inflicted by either the scissors or the knife found in the bedroom where Sandy died. Detectives had thought they would turn out to be “weapons of opportunity”: they belonged to the Bowmans, and the killer could have grabbed them as he began to attack Sandy. Apparently, he had brought his own knife with him.


The knife found in the garbage can behind the Kon-Tiki Apartments didn’t match the specifications of the lethal blade either.


Sandy had had recent sexual intercourse. Dr. Wilson took a swab of the semen in her vaginal vault. Tests available in 1968 would be able to establish if there were motile (live) sperm in the ejaculate, and possibly the blood type of the man who had put it there. She was a newlywed; it was likely she had made love with her husband earlier in the day of her death. Her undergarments had been ripped off. It was entirely possible that someone wanted the investigators to believe her death was motivated by a sexual attack, when the motive was something completely different. It was even possible that her killer was a female—although she would have had to have been a very powerful woman or one who had used a heavy object to strike Sandy that hard in the chin.


•  •  •

Detective Al Schrader joined the investigators on the Bowman case on the morning of December 18. He checked first on Rob Kinslow, the man mentioned by Lee Wilkins’s mother. Kinslow was cleared almost at once. He had been working a 3:30 P.M. to 11:30 P.M. shift at the Boeing airplane company’s plant in Everett, some twenty-five miles north of the death scene. Schrader verified that by talking to Kinslow’s supervisors. They were positive that Kinslow had been on the job for the entire shift.


Kinslow might have struck people as odd, but he could not have been the person who murdered Sandy Bowman.


“Nino,” the Bowman’s surprise visitor who they suspected of robbing them, was found to be Martin Simms.* He did have a record for auto theft and robbery in Seattle police files. Through informants, detectives traced him to his sister’s residence, where he was living.


But Nino, too, had a solid alibi: he had been with friends all during the afternoon and evening of December 17. Questioned separately, all of his associates verified his account of that day.


Al Schrader then pored over records of assaults in the Seattle area whose M.O. resembled the Bowman slaying. He found one man who had been involved in several attacks on teenage girls in the Ballard area. They had been bound and stabbed although, luckily, the victims had all survived. Their attacker had been found to be psychotic and committed to the Western Washington State (Mental) Hospital in Steilacoom. And Schrader found he remained incarcerated under maximum security and could not have been in Seattle.


One statement “Nino” Simms had made stuck in the detectives’ minds. Although Lee Wilkins had appeared genuinely shocked when informed of Sandy Bowman’s death, Nino said he had heard that Lee had never forgiven Sandy for breaking up with him. He described one incident at a north end bowling alley. Sandy had announced to a group of friends that she was expecting a baby and Wilkins had become enraged. He had called Sandy a “bitch” and threatened to kill her. When he talked with several young people who had been at the bowling alley, Schrader found that Wilkins had indeed made these threats. However, his efforts to question Wilkins were thwarted by a lawyer hired by the boy’s father. Wilkins promised repeatedly that he would come to the Homicide Unit for an interview, but he failed to show up for his appointment.


Schrader tried to impress upon the Wilkins family that it was vital for Lee to answer questions about Sandy—if only to clear his name.


Then an interesting phone call came into headquarters. Sandy Bowman had never lacked for friends; she had dozens of them, but only one particularly close friend: Bobbi Roselle.* Now, Bobbi’s mother, Mrs. Grace Roselle,* was on the phone. A man the Roselles knew only slightly had come to their home very early the morning after Sandy was murdered. He appeared to be extremely agitated.


“His name is Jim something,” Bobbi’s mother said. “It’s something like Lofbrau or Leffler. No, wait—it’s Leffberg. He’s a wild-looking man. Made me nervous to have him here. You should check him out.”
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Jim Leffberg had been slightly acquainted with Sandy’s mother, Dorothy, before she moved to California. Grace Roselle and Sandy’s mother both described him as a kind of “hanger-on” person who attached himself to people he barely knew.


“Anyway,” Grace Roselle said, “he just didn’t seem right that morning. The girls don’t like him—I know that for sure. He made a pass at my daughter, Bobbi, once. They’ve always called him ‘the dirty old man.’ Well, anyway, he was here bright and early this morning asking all kinds of questions. He talked in a peculiar, disjointed way—kind of rambling on and on.


“He kept asking, ‘Do they have any clues?’ and ‘Was she stabbed in the back?’ ‘Did they find the knife?’ His eyes kept rolling back in his head and he held his head funny. Then he’d say things like his daughter had been born on Sandy’s birthday. None of it made much sense. And there were his clothes too. They were all covered with red, and he kept apologizing for getting red on my carpet from his shoes.”


The detective was instantly alert. “Red? What do you mean by that. What did it look like?”


“Well, it looked like blood. But he said he’d been painting a house and it was stains from his work,” Grace Roselle said.


Schrader checked Jim Leffberg’s name against Seattle and King County police records. (It was long before police had computers for more thorough exploration.) He came up with a number of entries for Leffberg. The middle-aged man had been involved with the law on numerous occasions on charges ranging from minor offenses to grand larceny. Detectives contacted his parole officer, who told them Leffberg had shown tendencies toward sexual crimes of violence, and his folder noted that.


The Seattle police investigators expected that they would have a hard time locating Leffberg, but they needn’t have worried. As Al Schrader and Detective Donna Brazel finished interviewing Bobbi Roselle and her parents, Leffberg approached their house and told the detectives that he had some important information for them.


Jim Leffberg was an interesting character who looked as though he had just hopped off a freight car. He was about five feet eight inches tall and he had a wild bush of dark hair. His clothes were unkempt.


“Sandy told me that this magazine salesman was bothering her,” he said. “If I was you, I’d go looking for him.”


Leffberg himself had never seen the magazine salesman and Sandy hadn’t described him or given Leffberg a name. All he knew was that the guy scared her. It sounded like a red herring, rather than a good tip. The man in front of them looked better to them as a suspect.


Leffberg willingly gave them his address in Kent, a small town fifteen miles south of the Ballard area. He assured them he would be on hand at all times to help in the investigation.


As the days progressed, every available member of the Homicide Unit pitched into the Bowman investigation. Sandy was like one of their own, the niece of Sergeant Jerry Yates. Both Donna Brazel and Detective Beryl Thompson were assigned to Yates’s unit, and they canvassed every apartment in the Kon-Tiki complex, asking residents if they remembered anything even slightly unusual on the night of December 17—particularly around 7:30 P.M.


It proved to be a fruitless effort. Many of the residents were unaware that there had been a homicide. Because of the cold and snow, most of the people who lived in the Kon-Tiki had pulled their drapes that night and wouldn’t have seen anyone passing by. A few recalled hearing cars peeling out of the apartment complex’s parking lot.


A couple of tenants who lived close to the Bowmans knew of them—mainly because Sandy and Tom entertained many of their young friends who were prone to run up and down the stairs of the generally staid apartment house. They didn’t really mind Sandy and Tom, but they had been annoyed by all the pounding feet, shouting, and giggling.


The Kon-Tiki caretakers said that it was their policy never to give out duplicate keys to anyone other than the actual renters of apartments. There was no way a stranger could get through their doors unless he—or she—was invited in, or broke in. And, of course, the Bowmans’ door showed no damage at all.


•  •  •

Donna Brazel and Beryl Thompson moved on to an almost impossible task: they wanted to contact the scores of teenagers and young adults who had visited the Bowman apartment. Indeed, they did find most of Tom and Sandy’s friends. But not one of them described the Bowmans’ marriage as anything but idyllically happy. Over and over the female detectives heard. “They were very happy, very much in love,” and “Tom treated her so good.”


Still, a few of Sandy’s girlfriends remembered that she had been afraid of something. “She never left the apartment without peeking out of the door first,” one said.


“Do you know what frightened her?” Beryl Thompson asked.


The teenager shook her head. “She would never say what it was—or who it was—that she was afraid of. We thought maybe she just wasn’t used to being alone at night because she’d always lived home before she and Tom got married.”


Several of the school friends said that Lee Wilkins had gone steady with Sandy for a long time—since junior high school—and admitted that he had been upset when they broke up, but they felt sure he had forgiven her for marrying Tom Bowman. Despite his occasional outbursts, the former sweethearts had ended up being only good friends by the time of Sandy’s murder. Lee was happily dating someone else.


One ominous factor, however, began emerging as police personnel enlarged their picture of the Bowman’s habits: although Sandy herself would not touch narcotics, many of the young people who visited her apartment were suspected of experimenting with drugs to some extent. A lot of them smoked marijuana, and Bobbi Roselle was rumored to have tried LSD.


“Sandy was really a friendly kid,” the teenagers said. “She wasn’t flirtatious, really, because she was so in love with Tom, but she liked to joke around, and she let in almost anyone in our crowd who came over to visit. Her apartment was kind of a meeting place for kids.”


Detectives wondered if Sandy might have opened her door to someone high on drugs or perhaps been naive enough to admit “a friend of a friend of a friend.” But that warred with the information from her closest friends that she was afraid of something and always cracked the door to see who was there. Sandy had been only two weeks past her sixteenth birthday; she was caught between childhood and being an adult, and it was unlikely that she had been mature enough to use good judgment all the time.


The Pall Mall cigarette that had dropped from where it was wedged in the Bowman’s doorjamb remained a puzzle. That was finally explained when detectives received a phone call from a 24-year-old woman who said she and her husband were good friends of Sandy’s. She had even lived with them briefly before she and Tom were married.


“I don’t know why,” she said, “but Sandy kept coming into my mind that night and we decided to drive over and see her. The lights were on but she didn’t answer the door. We stuck the cigarette up over the door so she’d know we’d been there when she came home.”


The couple weren’t positive of the time they had knocked on Sandy’s door, but they thought it was between eight and nine.


During subsequent reconstruction, the homicide investigators realized that Sandy probably wrote the note to Tom in the last half hour of her life.


The investigation, however, was clouded with almost too many clues and too many bizarre coincidences. Schrader, Dorman, and Strunk felt that both Wilkins and Leffberg were prime suspects. And Al Schrader also felt that Bobbi Roselle knew much more than she was willing to tell officers. She, too, appeared to be afraid of something.
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Every name of someone connected to Sandy or Tom Bowman was compared to Seattle Police records of people who had been the suspects, victims, or witnesses in earlier cases on file—for everything from purse snatching and window peeping to murder. One name started bells and whistles sounding. The detectives had found a strong connection to another unsolved murder. Two and a half years earlier, in June of 1966, two United Airlines flight attendants had been brutally bludgeoned in their Queen Anne Hill basement apartment. One of the flight attendants, Lonnie Trumbull, was dead of massive head injuries when officers responded to the frantic call from the apartment manager’s wife. The other girl lay near death for two weeks after the attack. The only thing that had saved her, physicians surmised, were the big wire rollers in her hair. “The curlers absorbed a lot of the force of the blows,” the ER doctor had told police. “But we won’t know if she has permanent brain damage until she regains consciousness.” Detective Joyce Johnson had been assigned to sit beside the injured girl’s hospital bed in case she said anything that might lead them to the attacker. But the victim had mumbled only nonsense phrases and moaned. Although the young woman recovered completely, she was never able to tell officers anything about the events of the fatal night. She had a total blackout.


This attack took place several miles from the Ballard district. But there was a connection. The manager of the apartment house where the flight attendants lived had been Wayne Brosnick, who was, of course, the Bowman’s next-door neighbor. It was Brosnick who Tom Bowman had run to after discovering his wife’s body.


Follow-up reports on the stewardess’s murder indicated that Wayne Brosnick had been questioned extensively. He had submitted willingly to a lie detector test, which he passed completely. However, Brosnick was now interrogated about friends who might have visited him in either or both apartment houses. He acknowledged that one of his acquaintances had a record of sex offenses and had been questioned in the earlier case. Questioned and released.


“There’s not a thing to tie Brosnick’s friend to the Bowman case beyond simple coincidence,” one investigator said. Still, the man was checked out and found to have been miles away at the time of Sandy Bowman’s death.


•  •  •

In 2004, it is far easier to look back at Lonnie Trumbull’s murder thirty-six years ago and even to name her killer. It was undoubtedly Ted Bundy, who was eighteen at the time and working at a Safeway store on Queen Anne Hill. The M.O. of the attack on the flight attendants had virtually the same scenario as Bundy’s savage murders in the Chi Omega sorority house in Tallahassee, Florida, some fourteen years later. In the former, he picked up a piece of two-by-four from a woodpile outside the flight attendants’ apartment; in Tallahassee, he used an oak log from another woodpile. But no one had ever heard of Ted Bundy in 1968, and he had not even been a suspect in the disappearance of 8-year-old Anne Marie Burr in Tacoma, Washington, in August 1962—although he delivered her family’s morning paper.
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As the Sandy Bowman homicide investigation moved on, detectives fanned out in many directions. Detectives Nat Crawford and Wayne Dorman went over the Bowman apartment inch by inch with an iodine fumer, which could bring up latent fingerprints. Even the picture tube from the television set was removed and taken to George Ishii, the Seattle Police Department’s crack criminalist, for print identification. There were prints there, but they didn’t match any suspects. In 1968, the thought of a computer-generated fingerprint identification system would have been something straight out of science fiction. The FBI kept a full set of ten fingerprints only on their Ten Most Wanted felons, and they had no way to compare single unknown prints to the millions of prints on file.


Billy Dunagen, who was the Seattle Police Department’s handwriting identification expert, determined that Sandy herself wrote the note found on the coffee table.


•  •  •

Sandra Bowman’s funeral was held four days before Christmas. Detectives E. T. Mullen, Wayne Dorman, and Nat Crawford mingled with the crowd to observe those attending, and pictures were taken of the crowd. Lee Wilkins and Jim Leffberg served as pallbearers. There was a reason for that: the investigators wanted to keep track of them and have them out of the way so that their vehicles could be processed for evidence.


Sandy’s uncle, Hector Gillis, recalled that he was asked to keep Leffberg close to him. “All of the pallbearers were in the same vehicle, and I was sitting right next to this weird guy. I knew that Leffberg was one of the prime suspects in my niece’s murder, and it wasn’t easy to make conversation with him. But we had to be sure that he was being watched all during the funeral.”


Lee Wilkins, Sandy’s former steady boyfriend, smiled a great deal during the services, and one of the detectives who had questioned Wilkins recalled that he hadn’t seen Wilkins smile at all during previous contacts with him. Other than that, nothing unusual transpired at the final rites and interment of the lovely teenager who had so looked forward to Christmas and to motherhood.


•  •  •

On the same day as Sandy Bowman’s funeral, two mortuary attendants transported a corpse to another Seattle funeral parlor. It was not Sandra Bowman’s body, but the attendants called police about a macabre incident. As they wheeled the corpse from a hearse into the establishment, a wild-eyed young man approached them, demanding to know, “Is that the body of the 16-year-old girl? It better not be!”


The attendants ordered the man to leave the mortuary, but one followed him and memorized the license number of his car as he drove hurriedly away. He reported this intelligence to homicide. A license check with auto records gave them the name of the registered owner, a Seattle woman.


Two homicide detectives drove to her address at once. The door was answered by a distraught older woman, who admitted that her son had been driving her car that day. She explained that he was a former mental patient. “He was traumatized when my husband was murdered ten years ago,” she said. “It upset my son so much that any murder he hears about seems to send him into a psychotic state. There’s been so much about that poor girl in the newspapers, and I’m afraid the publicity about her death has disturbed him a great deal.”


When the investigators talked with the woman’s son, he gave them an erratic account of his activities on the night of December 17. “I had the car and I went out to the country club because that’s the only place in Seattle where the water isn’t poison,” he said. “When I got there, I had an accident. Another car hit me by the entrance gates.”


They checked and found that the deranged man had, indeed, been involved in a minor accident near the guard station at the entrance to the posh grounds of a north end country club. The accident took place at 7:35 in the evening.


The unfortunate woman had her hands full with her psychotic son, but he wasn’t Sandy Bowman’s killer.
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Lee Wilkins and Jim Leffberg remained the top suspects, even though their cars hadn’t held a smidgen of evidence linking them to Sandy’s murder. Keeping an eye on Jim Leffberg was no problem: he seemed always to be underfoot, pestering the dead girl’s relatives, repeating his story of the magazine salesman, and demanding to be allowed to attend all family functions. At the funeral parlor, he had insisted on sitting with the family as if he truly did have close connections to them.


Leffberg answered questions easily at first, and then became more and more evasive as detectives interviewed him. He refused to take a polygraph test. He said that he had been painting a home in North Seattle until 7:00 or 7:30 on the night of the seventeenth. Then he had gone to a bar in South King County where he played pool with a friend and drank beer. He chided the investigators because they weren’t looking hard enough for the magazine salesman.


Detective Al Schrader had already made every attempt to track down Leffberg’s theory on the elusive magazine peddler but he had found no one in the Kon-Tiki complex who remembered seeing such a salesman within the six months preceding the murder.


Obtaining a search warrant, Schrader searched Lee Wilkins’s room. The boy was advised of his rights and he offered no objection. Schrader was looking for a knife—the knife, because the butcher knife found on the floor of the murder bedroom wasn’t the murder weapon.


Now, in Wilkins’s room, Schrader found three knives. All of them were hunting knives, but all of them were also rusty from disuse. Still, Lee Wilkins, like Jim Leffberg, refused to submit to a lie detector test, which was his right.


After conferences with his lawyer and his parents, Lee Wilkins finally agreed to take a polygraph. Investigators had already checked out his alibi, but they did it again. He insisted that he had spent the entire evening of December 17 with three friends in the basement recreation room of one of the boys’ houses. Each boy still verified that Wilkins had been with them from shortly before seven until eleven o’clock. Lee continued to deny that he had borne Sandy any grudge at all. “She was my good friend,” he sighed. “Why can’t you believe that?”
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